1



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA (Before a Referee)

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR, Complainant,

v.

Case No. 79,370

TFB No. 91-11,585 (6C)

JAMES A. HELINGER, JR., Respondent.

THE FLORIDA BAR'S INITIAL BRIEF

SUSAN V. BLOEMENDAAL Assistant Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Suite C-49 Tampa Airport Marriott Hotel Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 875-9821 Attorney No. 347175

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND THE CASE

Beginning in June of 1986 and continuing for almost five (5) years, until his arrest in September of 1989, Respondent systematically harassed a woman by placing threatening and obscene phone calls to her home. These telephone calls were placed by Respondent when he travelled to Tallahassee for the purpose of attending sporting events at Florida State University. (RR.1) During the weekends when these sporting events took place, Respondent placed repeated obscene calls to the victim's residence from Friday evening through the following Sunday morning. (TR.14-19) This lengthy period of intentional and systematic harassment by Respondent was emotionally devastating to the victim. (RR.2) During the first telephone call to the victim, Respondent advised her that he was in possession of nude photographs of her, and that he would show these photographs to her boss unless she went out with him on a date and had sex with him. (TR.17, RR.2, 8) Although she knew that there were no such photographs in existence, the victim felt compelled to reveal the contents of the telephone call to her boss. This experience was both humiliating and embarrassing to her. For the following five years, the victim was terrorized by Respondent's threatening and obscene phone calls. (TR.17-18; Ex.#1; Appendix B.) The scheme and its TFB implementation by Respondent were both systematic and intentional. By his own admission, Respondent placed these telephone calls in Tallahassee in order to avoid detection. (RR.2) He was able to control his impulse to place the telephone calls, delaying doing so

until he was attending sporting events in Tallahassee. The timing of the telephone calls likewise demonstrates control and scheme. (TR.14) After the victim threatened Respondent with jail if he made more calls, the phone calls became random. (TR.15)

Respondent plead guilty to criminal conduct in May of 1991 and was subsequently sentenced to thirty (30) days in jail, six month's probation, together with a fine and costs.¹

The criminal acts culminating in the 1991 plea were not the first instance of this type of criminal misconduct by Respondent. At the Final Hearing, Respondent acknowledged placing obscene telephone calls since the age of 11. In 1978, Respondent was arrested and charged with placing obscene and harassing telephone calls to a woman, advising her that he would return a ring only upon her agreement to engage in sexual relations with him. (TR. 157-158, RR.4, TFB Ex.#8) Respondent entered into a plea agreement in 1979 and was placed on probation for three years, with a requirement that he continue counseling.² Although the conduct apparently ceased for a time after his 1978 arrest, by 1986 he began making the telephone calls to the victim in the instant case and to other individuals, chosen either at random or out of the newspaper. (RR.3-4)

Because the facts in this case were not in dispute, the Final Hearing held August 5, 1992, was used for presentation of evidence

¹ Respondent entered a plea and was adjudicated guilty of violation of Section 365.16(1)(a) Fla. Stat.

²Respondent plead guilty to six (6) counts of Section 365.16(1)(d)/26.012, Fla. Stat.

relating to aggravating and mitigating factors. Although he admitted his guilt on the underlying charges, Respondent took the position that his misconduct was due to a psychiatric problem that exhibited itself only when he was under the influence of alcohol and/or cocaine. Respondent proclaimed his recovery from addiction to alcohol and cocaine. However, no expert witness testified in support of this position. Non-expert witnesses who testified at the Final Hearing, including Respondent's brothers and his wife, testified as to observable changes in Respondent's behavior. However, Respondent had successfully concealed from these same individuals the fact that he was engaging in the use of an illegal drug (cocaine), and that he was engaging in a long-term and persistent pattern of placing obscene and harassing telephone calls (TR.107; 120-121; 129) Further, the testimony of to women. Respondent's own therapist indicates that Respondent had, at the time of Final Hearing, only begun the process of recovery from what was labeled as addictive behaviors. Just ten months prior to the Final Hearing, Respondent's therapist advised Florida Lawyers' Assistance, Inc. that Mr. Helinger was in the beginning stages of recovery. (TFB Ex.#3, p.43, Appendix A, p.8) Approximately two months prior to the Final Hearing the same therapist's notes indicate a resistance by Respondent to attending meetings of a support group, Sex and Love Addicts Anonymous. (TFB Ex.#3, p.1, Appendix A, p.1) Although Respondent professed remorse for the effects of his misconduct on the victim, his therapist's notes describe him as having no empathy. (TR.162-163, TFB Ex.#3, p.39,

Appendix A, p.7)

Subsequent to the Final Hearing and submission of written closing arguments by counsel, the Referee issued a report dated October 13, 1992, wherein he recommended a 90-day suspension together with "probation for an extended period of time, probably until [Respondent] is no longer a member of The Florida Bar." The conditions of the suggested probation are as follows:

1. He continue to regularly secure professional counseling and therapy relative to this psychiatric problems (sic). Prior to the termination of the 90 day suspension period, Respondent must submit to an evaluation by a psychiatrist chosen by the Florida Bar and that evaluation and report should be forwarded to the Supreme Court.

2. He abstain from any use of alcohol or controlled substances except on written direction from a physician.

3. He continue with the programs of Alcoholics Anonymous and Florida Lawyers' Assistance, Inc., fully complying with all the provisions of said programs including, but not limited to, random testing for the use of alcohol and controlled substances and monitoring by Florida Lawyers' Assistance, Inc.; These random tests should be conducted at least twice a month at Respondent's expense.

On November 20, 1992, the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar instructed Bar Counsel to appeal the Referee's recommendation of a 90 day suspension and seek a three year suspension, and a Petition for Review was filed on November 30, 1992.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The issue addressed in this Brief is whether an attorney charged with systematically harassing a woman with obscene telephone calls for a period of almost five years, and who has twice been arrested and criminally sanctioned for this type of conduct, should receive a ninety-day (90) suspension and be reinstated without proof of rehabilitation. There is no dispute as to the underlying facts. Respondent has engaged in the practice of harassing woman with obscene telephone calls since the age of 11. This behavior persisted even after an arrest, probation, and counseling, and resulted in a second criminal prosecution which is the subject of the instant case.

The record before this Court is devoid of any expert testimony that would support the position that Respondent's criminal conduct was caused by a psychiatric disorder. Nor does the record support a conclusion that Respondent's criminal behavior was causally related to his use of alcohol and cocaine.

Respondent has, since his most recent arrest, sought treatment for several "addictive behaviors". He has not however, been required to prove, by clear and convincing evidence, that he is rehabilitated. A suspension of three years duration is an appropriate discipline for Respondent's serious misconduct, and requires that he demonstrate his rehabilitation before being allowed to resume the practice of law.

Attorneys are officers of the Court who must live within the

law. When they do not, they demean not only themselves, but the dignity of the legal profession. As Justice Ehrlich stated in his dissenting opinion in <u>The Florida Bar v. Levine</u>, 498 So. 2d 941, at 942 (Fla. 1986):

Lawyers are officers of the Court and members of the third branch of government. That unique and enviable position carries with it commensurate responsibilities. If the public cannot look to lawyers to support the law and not break it, then, pray tell, to whom may It is this proper perception that they look. this seemingly innocuous (in makes the superficial sense that the only one adversely affected is the one who indulges in the use of the drug) breach of law, so very pernicious, in the eyes of the public and understandably gives rise to a full measure of cynicism. The bar needs the support of the public but it must merit that support, and when this Court gently slaps the wrist of a member of the bar who uses cocaine in contravention of the statute, the public may arguably have reason to believe that we are treating the bar as a privileged class above law and other citizens.

A suspension of three years would send a strong message to the bar, bench, and public that conduct such as Respondent's will not be treated lightly.

ARGUMENT

I. THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE, A 90-DAY SUSPENSION, IS INSUFFICIENT CONSIDERING THE SERIOUS NATURE OF RESPONDENT'S MISCONDUCT.

A. THE NATURE AND DURATION OF RESPONDENT'S MISCONDUCT REFLECTS ADVERSELY ON RESPONDENT'S FITNESS AS A LAWYER AND THE REPUTATION AND DIGNITY OF THE PROFESSION.

For almost five Respondent deliberately years and systematically victimized a woman to meet his own perverse needs. While attending sporting events at Florida State University, Respondent placed repeated phone calls, some in rapid succession, to the victim's home. These telephone calls generally began on a Friday evening and continued through the following Sunday morning. (TR.18-19, TFB Ex.#1, Appendix B) The content of these telephone calls was obscene and/or threatening in nature. Respondent apparently singled out this particular woman as a victim because he had known her briefly while attending college. (TR.13, TFB Ex.#1, p.6)

There is no dispute as to the Respondent's guilt in this case. Respondent has not challenged the Bar's charges against him. Therefore, the issue before this Court is whether the 90-day suspension recommended by the Referee is sufficient for the misconduct in question.

Pursuant to the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, a lawyer's mental state is a factor which is relevant to the determination of an appropriate discipline. In this case, there can be no question that Respondent's conduct was deliberate,

intentional, and systematic. The conduct with which he was charged took place over a period of almost five years, and the evidence before this Court demonstrates a long history of misconduct by Respondent which reflects a disregard for society and the laws of The Respondent has acknowledged placing obscene the State. telephone calls since the age of 11. He has twice been arrested, charged, and criminally sanctioned for placing obscene and harassing telephone calls to women. The earlier arrest took place in 1978 and, although the misconduct apparently ceased for a time after that arrest and probation, Respondent again began placing obscene and harassing telephone calls to other individuals, including the victim in the instant case. His disregard for the law is further evidenced by the fact that for a period of approximately ten years, Respondent also engaged in the use of cocaine, an illegal drug.

Respondent's 1978 arrest arose out of repeated harassing and obscene telephone calls to a woman who had placed an advertisement concerning a lost ring. Respondent suggested to the woman that he would not return the ring unless she agreed to engage in a sexual relationship with him. (TR.157-158, TFB Ex.#8) In the case at bar, in his initial call to the victim, Respondent threatened to show non-existent nude photographs of the victim to her employer unless she agreed to go out with him. Both of these instances of criminal misconduct involve extortion and degradation of the women he was victimizing. Respondent's misconduct reflects adversely, both on his fitness as a lawyer, and on the reputation and dignity

of the profession.

B. THE EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD IS INSUFFICIENT TO ESTABLISH A CAUSAL CONNECTION BETWEEN THE UNDERLYING CONDUCT AND RESPONDENT'S USE OF ALCOHOL AND COCAINE.

Respondent would have this Court believe that in the case at bar, he was unable to control his conduct, and unable to seek professional help, even though at that same period of time he was able to maintain a successful law practice and to confine his misconduct to those weekends when he was in Tallahassee to attend sporting events. His ability to think, analyze, and organize information remained intact during the time he tormented his victim and abused cocaine. Respondent further seeks to excuse his misconduct because of his use of alcohol and cocaine. However, it is clear from the record that Respondent began engaging in the practice of placing obscene/harassing telephone calls as early as The Referee noted that, in connection with the the age of 11. Court ordered probation in the 1978 charges, the treating psychologist did not diagnose Respondent's problem as being related to the consumption of alcohol or drugs. (RR.4) Respondent's own testimony indicates that his cocaine use did not begin until approximately 1981, well after the 1978 charges. (TR.153-154)

The record is devoid of <u>expert</u> testimony which would establish a causal connection between Respondent's alcohol and cocaine use and the criminal conduct. The primary evidence in the record offered to support such a connection is Respondent's own selfserving testimony to the effect that he only placed the obscene

phone calls when he was abusing alcohol and cocaine.

Respondent's current therapist, Mr. Timothy McGivern, testified at the Final Hearing but was not offered as, nor qualified as, an expert witness. Mr. McGivern testified that it is not uncommon to have multiple addictions, i.e. alcohol, cocaine and "sexual addiction." However, he also testified as follows under questioning by Respondent's counsel:

> Q. (By Mr. Earle) In the case of Mr. Helinger, do you have to look at all these addictions as a common problem create -- or a common cause of the problem which is involved here? If you took away if he didn't drink any and he had no cocaine, do you have any reason to believe that he would engage in making obscene phone calls?

> A. (By Mr. McGivern) I think that <u>unless he</u> works the program, there is a high probability that even without the alcohol or cocaine, that that problem can happen.

> Q. All right. Now, if he works at the program, what does that do with that high probability?

A. It lowers the probability. And there are specific things that we can look at that as he continues and he follows through with the program that he is doing, that it lowers the probability. <u>That does not mean that that</u> behavior-- Just because he is not drinking or doing cocaine, that would not happen. The probability can't -- (TR.56-57)

Respondent's own witness does not support the proposition that absent substance abuse, Respondent's perverse mistreatment of women would not have occurred. C. PROOF OF REHABILITATION SHOULD BE REQUIRED IN ORDER TO PLACE AN AFFIRMATIVE DUTY ON RESPONDENT TO SHOW THAT HE HAS REHABILITATED HIMSELF.

The Referee's Report details Respondent's steps in seeking and obtaining treatment for his various addictive behaviors. The Referee did not make a finding of rehabilitation; rather, he noted in his report that Respondent has "an excellent chance of being fully rehabilitated." (RR.6-7) (emphasis supplied) The Referee also noted that Respondent is apparently "determined to rehabilitate himself." (RR.8) In the Referee's citation to applicable sections of the Florida Standards relating to aggravating and mitigating factors, there is no citation to the section dealing with interim rehabilitation.

No expert testimony was offered at the Final Hearing concerning the nature and extent of Respondent's treatment for "sexual addiction," nor was any expert testimony offered as a diagnosis or as to prognosis. Mr. McGivern, who testified as to factual information, preserved his impressions of Respondent's treatment in the form of treatment notes which were introduced into evidence. A summary of these notes indicates as follows:

<u>August 6, 1991</u>: Respondent reported to Mr. McGivern that he had been making contact with a woman with whom he had engaged in consensual phone sex and that they were engaging in flirting behavior in "dangerous areas." [Appendix A; TFB Ex.#3, p.31]

<u>August 12, 1991</u>: Notes of this date indicate Mr. Helinger "is somebody who very much wants to control, wants to do it his way. At this point he has not contacted SLAA which is Sex and Love Addiction Anonymous hotline."

11

. . .

"Staying very concrete with him and wanting him to take a look if he does not go to his meetings there is very <u>much a possibility or probability of relapse</u>." (emphasis supplied)

. . .

. . .

"I like Jim and feel that he will embrace recovery at some point. He has done that with the cocaine and alcohol but <u>has not with the sexual recovery.</u>" (emphasis supplied) [Appendix A; TFB Ex.#3, p.32]

<u>August 20, 1991</u>: Mr. McGivern's notes describe Mr. Helinger as reacting with extreme anger when confronted with control issues. [Appendix A; TFB Ex.#3, p.33]

September 11, 1991: These notes describe Mr. Helinger as feeling angry, victimized, and blaming. Notes of this day also describe Mr. Helinger's attitude one day prior to his criminal trial on the telephone harassment charges as "[it's] as if there's no empathy, he's almost kind of washed his hands and everything is fine now." (emphasis supplied) [Appendix A; TFB Ex.#3, p.39]

October 1, 1991: In a letter to Charles Hagan, Executive Director of Florida Lawyers Assistance, Inc., Mr. McGivern stated as follows: "I see Mr. Helinger in <u>beginning</u> stages of sexual addiction and drug and alcohol recovery which means that his sobriety is the key at the present time." (emphasis supplied) [Appendix A; TFB Ex.#3, p.43]

October 8, 1991: Mr. McGivern's notes describe Mr. Helinger as follows: "Jim wants to look good, but has a difficult time with honesty. He even said in this session that he doesn't have a problem with lying, he has lied his whole life to get what he wants." The notes of this date further indicate, "he's a very <u>charming and</u> <u>manipulative</u> man who has a lot of feelings of distrust and fear and is beginning to take a look at his part and his own addiction." (emphasis supplied) [Appendix A; TFB Ex.#3, p.45]

November 13, 1991: Mr. Helinger's own notes are as follows: "I still fantasize about having sex with some woman outside my relationship. With my sexual addiction, I have power, control, I watch rape scenes and I get excited. The more dangerous, the more exciting for me. Hitting, biting, - - - this lady I was seeing would have rings on her nipples and vagina - - - a lot of bondage and I admit I still fantasize about that. Open, caring, fearful of relapse." [Appendix A; TFB Ex.#3, p.47]

January 29, 1992: Notes of this day include: "What I saw with him too was know - it - all, he sees himself "as better, than" and what he'll do is rescue - - play "Superman" with people he thinks are inferior to him and then can play big shot." Notes of this date further indicate: "He is a major caretaker and I told him that I could see that he'll relapse because of his codependency." [Appendix A; TFB Ex.#3, p.53]

June 3, 1992: McGivern indicates that he recommended to Helinger that he begin attending S.L.A.A. meetings and that "he does not like it, was upset, mildly upset. Went on to explain why he doesn't need to be doing that." The notes further indicate: "I am seeing some patterns I don't feel comfortable with." [Appendix A; TFB Ex.#3, p.1]

The last entry in Mr. McGivern's notes, made a little more than a month before the Final Hearing in the instant case, describe Respondent as an individual who continues to be resistant to treatment.

In the light most favorable to Respondent, the evidence presented at the Final Hearing shows an individual who has <u>begun</u> the process of recovery from alcohol and cocaine addiction. No expert witness testified concerning resolution of Respondent's <u>criminal</u> behavior.

Respondent's initial treatment in the instant matter was in a residential treatment center in Minnesota by the name of Golden Valley Health Center. This treatment commenced on May 15, 1991, and continued for approximately one month. The individuals at Golden Valley who evaluated and treated Respondent did not testify at the Final Hearing. We have only their reports, which comprise Florida Bar composite Ex.#2. The discharge evaluation by Dr. Stephen Barton of Golden Valley describes Respondent as follows:

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