$\int_{\mathbf{A}} \varphi \int_{\mathbf{A}}$ 

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA (Before a Referee)

The Florida Bar,

Complainant,

vs.

James A. Helinger, Jr.,

Respondent.

FEB 5 1993

Chief Deputy Clerk

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

RICHARD T. EARLE, JR.
Attorney for Respondent
150 - Second Avenue North
Suite 910
St. Petersburg, FL 33701
(813) 898-4474
SPN 00041309 FBN 021714

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The sole issue before this Court is whether or not the discipline recommended by the Referee is adequate to serve all of the purposes of disciplining lawyers. Admittedly, the Respondent is guilty of a second degree misdemeanor, was tried therefor, and sentenced to thirty (30) days in jail. He has not attempted to justify his conduct or to be excused therefor.

The Referee found that Respondent's misconduct was caused by illnesses - alcoholism, cocaine addiction and a psychiatric problem; he has sought professional help and has cooperated in treatment therefor; has not consumed any alcoholic beverages or controlled substances since June, 1991; has complied with his contract with Florida Lawyers' Assistance, Inc. and followed the precepts of Alcoholics Anonymous, and his conduct has exhibited other mitigating circumstances, all of which reflects that it is unlikely that Respondent will again engage in like misconduct. Based upon these Findings of Fact, the Referee concluded that a ninety (90) day suspension would be adequate to fully discharge all of the purposes of Lawyers' discipline, including deterring other lawyers from engaging in like misconduct, and additional sanctions would serve no useful purpose.

It is Respondent's position that:

13. The Bar has not demonstrated that the Referee's Findings and Conclusions are clearly erroneous or lacking in

evidentiary support and that said Findings and Conclusions should not be upheld on review.

14. Considering the nature of Respondent's misconduct and the mitigating circumstances therefor, all as found by the Referee, the discipline recommended by the Referee comports with the spirit and letter of the purposes of disciplining lawyers as set out in the Case Law applicable to the facts in this case, as well as to the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyers' Sanctions adopted by the Board of Governors of the Florida Bar.

#### ISSUE FOR REVIEW

The Complainant in its brief has stated under the title "ARGUMENT 1", that the issue for review is:

"THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE, A 90-DAY SUSPENSION, IS INSUFFICIENT CONSIDERING THE SERIOUS NATURE OF RESPONDENT'S MISCONDUCT."

This is a misstatement of the issues. Complainant has completely ignored the effects which should be given to the mitigating circumstances as found by the Referee. An accurate statement of the issue is:

WHETHER THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE, A NINETY-DAY SUSPENSION AND PROBATION FOR AN EXTENDED PERIOD OF TIME, SUBJECT TO THE CONDITIONS SET OUT IN THE REFEREE'S REPORT, IS SUFFICIENT DISCIPLINE CONSIDERING THE NATURE OF RESPONDENT'S MISCONDUCT AND THE MITIGATING FACTORS AS FOUND BY THE REFEREE.

Under "ARGUMENT 1" after stating the Bar's view of the issue for review, there are four subparagraphs designated A, B, C and D.

There is no issue as to Subparagraph A. Admittedly, Respondent's misconduct warrants discipline.

As to Subparagraph B, the Referee's findings reflect that Respondent was an alcoholic and that each act of misconduct here involved occurred while the Respondent was in Tallahassee to attend a home football game of Florida State University and after Respondent had become intoxicated and was the result thereof.

Subparagraph C is a misstatement of the law. The Referee found the Respondent to be an alcoholic, a cocaine addict, and the sufferer of a psychiatric problem for none of which is there a "cure". Cases decided by this Court, cited in this brief, hold that the control of alcoholism and cocaine addiction are mitigating circumstances which should be considered in determining the sanctions to be imposed for misconduct caused by such addiction.

#### ISSUE TO BE REVIEWED

WHETHER THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE, A NINETY-DAY SUSPENSION AND PROBATION FOR AN EXTENDED PERIOD OF TIME, SUBJECT TO THE CONDITIONS SET OUT IN THE REFEREE'S REPORT, IS SUFFICIENT DISCIPLINE CONSIDERING THE NATURE OF RESPONDENT'S MISCONDUCT AND THE MITIGATING FACTORS AS FOUND BY THE REFEREE.

#### ARGUMENT

From the outset the Respondent has always recognized that, being guilty of the conduct alleged, this Court would impose some sanctions upon him. The sole purpose of his "defense" was to demonstrate to this Court that under the facts of this case the sanctions imposed should be minimal. This effort was based upon two principles of law which have been adopted and followed by this Court.

It has always been the philosophy of this Court that the purpose of assessing sanctions in lawyer disciplinary matters is to protect the public's interest and to give fair treatment to the accused attorney. State, ex-rel. The Florida Bar v Ruskin, 126 So.2nd 142 (Fla.1961). The discipline should be corrective and the controlling consideration should be the gravity of the charges, the injuries suffered and the character of the accused. Holland v Frournoy, 195 So.2nd 138 (Fla.1940). The penalty assessed should not be made for the purpose of punishment. The Florida Bar v King, 174 So.2nd 398 (Fla.1965). Neither prejudice nor passion should enter into the determination. State, ex-rel. The Florida Bar v Bass, 106 So.2nd 77 (Fla.1958). In The Florida Bar v Pahules, 233

So.2nd 130 (Fla.1970), this Court carefully set out the purpose of discipline as follows:

"In cases such as these, three purposes must be kept in mind in reaching our conclusions. First, the judgment must be fair to society, both in terms of protecting the public from unethical conduct and at the same time not denying the public the services of a qualified lawyer as a result of undue harshness in imposing penalty. Second, the judgment must be fair to the Respondent, being sufficient to punish a breach of ethics and at the same time reformation and rehabilitation. encourage Third, the judgment must be severe enough to deter others who might be prone or tempted to become encouraged in like violation."

<u>Pahules</u>, supra, was cited with approval and quoted in <u>The Florida</u>

<u>Bar v Saphirstein</u>, 376 So.2nd 7, (Fla.1979), <u>The Florida Bar v</u>

<u>Harper</u>, 518 So.2nd 262, (Fla.1988) and numerous other cases.

In 1982 this Court, in the case of <u>The Florida Bar v Larkin</u>, 420 So.2nd 1080 (Fla.1982), squarely confronted the problems involved arising out of attorney alcoholism. In this case the Court stated:

"Business and professional groups, including The Florida Bar, have only recently openly acknowledged and addressed the problem of the alcoholic businessman and professional. problem must be directly confronted; practicing attorney who is an alcoholic can be a substantial danger to the public and the judicial system as well. Too often, attorneys will recognize that a colleague suffers from alcohol abuse but will ignore the problem because they do not want to hurt individual or his or her family. This attitude can have disastrous results both for the public and the individual attorney. alcoholism is dealt with properly, not only will the attorney's clients and the public be protected, but the attorney may be able to be restored as a fully competent member of the legal profession. This Court has

responsibility of assuring that the public is fully protected from attorney's misconduct. In those cases where alcoholism is the underlying cause of the professional man's conduct and the individual attorney is willing to cooperate in seeking alcoholism rehabilitation, we should take these circumstances into account in determining the appropriate discipline."

Larkin, supra, was followed by The Florida Bar v Headley, 475 So.2nd 1213 (Fla.1985). In this case the Court fully recognized that where the misconduct was caused by alcoholism and the attorney is willing to cooperate in seeking rehabilitation, the Court should take these matters into consideration as mitigating circumstances. In this case the Court stated that:

".... First and foremost among the mitigating circumstances is the fact that there have been no instances of bad conduct by Respondent as a practicing attorney. He has not been cited for contempt of court, nor has he adversely affected the rights or neglected the interest of a client. Also, Respondent now acknowledges that he is an alcoholic and has been actively engaged in Alcoholics Anonymous in an attempt to put his life back together.

"The Bar contends that we should not consider alcoholism as a mitigating circumstance since it occurred after the wrongful conduct. State ex-rel. v Hogsten, So.2nd 668 127 (Fla.1961)(Alcoholism orillness is not relevant for consideration as mitigating circumstances when after it occurs However, we accept the wrongful event). Referee's finding that Mr. Headley's failure to pay Bar dues was a direct result of his being an alcoholic. This finding was based upon the testimony of a member of the Florida Bar, a reformed alcoholic, who has had daily contact with Respondent since August 14, 1984. Referee correctly characterized this witness as an expert in the area of alcoholic attorneys and placed great weight upon his testimony.

"We do not feel as though the discipline recommended by the Complainant is best suited in this case. As we noted in The Florida Bar <u>v Larkin</u>, 420 So.2nd 1080 (Fla.1982), in those cases where alcoholism is the underlying cause of professional misconduct and the individual attorney is willing to cooperate in seeking alcoholism rehabilitation, we should circumstances into account determining the appropriate discipline. major shortcoming οf Further, a Complainant's recommended discipline is that fails to offer the Respondent it successful rehabilitation opportunity of through the Special Committee of The Florida Bar on alcohol abuse...."

The law above-cited has been well established by this Court and this Court has not deviated therefrom. The disagreements between the Bar on the one hand and the Referee and the attorney for the Respondent on the other arises not because of a disagreement as to the facts of this case but from the differences of opinion as to the relative importance of some of the facts. Thus, many of the facts which Respondent will emphasize in this brief are completely ignored by the Bar in its brief. There is no real controversy as to the facts - the importance of many of the facts are in dispute.

The law is clear that in Bar disciplinary proceedings:

"The party seeking review has the burden of showing that the Referee's findings are "clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support." The Florida Bar v Wagner, 212 So.2nd 770, 772. (Fla.1968). Unless this burden is met, a Referee's findings will be upheld on review. The Florida Bar v McClure, 575 So.2nd 176 (Fla.1991)". See also The Florida Bar v Neu, 597 So.2nd 266 (Fla.1992)."

The Referee in his Report found, among other things, that:

- Beginning in June, 1986, the Respondent began making 1. obscene telephone calls to a lady in Tallahassee, which calls continued intermittently until April, 1991. All of the said phone calls originated in Tallahassee and occurred on Fridays, Saturdays and Sundays, on weekends when Florida State University had a home (RR.1) The Respondent was a substantial booster football game. of the Florida State University football team and rarely, if ever, missed a home football game. From the time of Respondent's arrival in Tallahassee on Friday, before football, through all of Saturday and even a portion of Sunday, there were continuous parties in which alcohol was consumed and at which Respondent became intoxicated. It was on these occasions that Respondent made the obscene telephone calls for which he was arrested. (RR.2) The conduct of making the telephone calls was caused by Respondent's personal and emotional problems and his addiction to alcohol and cocaine. (RR.8)
- 2. Almost immediately after his arrest, Respondent determined that he needed professional help in relation to making obscene telephone calls. He entered Golden Valley Health Center, an institution specializing in diagnosing and treating sexual and psychiatric disorders, on May 15, 1991 and was discharged on June 14, 1991.
- 3. During the course of Respondent's treatment at Golden Valley Health Center, he was told for the first time that he was an alcoholic and cocaine addict, and when he was so told, he believed it.

- 4. After leaving Golden Valley Health Center, Respondent went to Parkside Lodge of Florida, for treatment of his alcohol and cocaine addiction, where he remained for one week.
- 5. He then sought the services of The Florida Lawyers Assistance Program, Inc., a program operated with the cooperation of The Florida Bar to serve as support for the lawyers with an alcoholic and/or controlled substance addiction, and to monitor their progress.
- 6. As a part of the program of The Florida Lawyers Assistance Program, Inc., Respondent joined Alcoholics Anonymous and has attended meetings approximately twice weekly, reporting monthly to his monitor. He has submitted to quarterly, random tests for alcohol and controlled substances, all of which have proved negative.
- 7. Respondent was an alcoholic, a cocaine addict, and suffered from a psychiatric problem.
- 8. Alcoholism, cocaine addiction and psychiatric problems are all illnesses which are probably not curable.
- 9. These illnesses are all controllable in the sense that symptoms of these illnesses will not occur if:
  - a. Respondent is dedicated to resisting the effects of the illnesses, and he is.
  - b. Respondent seeks professional assistance in controlling the illnesses, and he is.
  - c. Respondent has the support of Alcoholics Anonymous, Florida Lawyers Assistance, Inc. and like organizations, his

family, and his friends, and he is.

- d. Respondent is determined to resist the effects of these illnesses, to continue cooperating in the programs of Alcoholics Anonymous and Florida Lawyers Assistance, Inc. and securing professional help for his psychiatric problems, and he is.
- 10. Respondent has not consumed any alcoholic beverages or controlled substances since his discharge from Golden Valley Health Center (6/14/91).
- 11. Respondent has an excellent chance of avoiding exhibiting any symptoms of his illnesses and any repetition of his prior misconduct and thus to become fully rehabilitated.
- 12. No client nor the administration of justice was injured by Respondent's misconduct.
- 13. Respondent is truly remorseful and is determined to rehabilitate himself.
- 14. After being apprehended, Respondent made a good faith effort to rectify the consequences of his misconduct by apologizing to the victim who has since testified twice on behalf of the Respondent, once at the sentencing at Tallahassee, and once during the course of the Hearing before the Referee.

The Complainant, in its brief, makes much of the fact that in 1978 the Respondent was arrested and charged with placing obscene and harassing telephone calls to a woman. Respondent entered into a plea agreement in 1979 and was placed on probation for three (3) years with the requirement that he continue counselling. Although

the conduct apparently ceased for a time after his 1978 arrest, by 1986 he began making the telephone calls herein involved. In this connection, the Complainant fails to point out the findings by the Referee that, "Respondent consulted with and was treated by a psychologist, Dr. Sidney Merin. Dr. Merin did not diagnose Respondent's problems as being related to the consumption of alcohol or drugs." This Finding of Fact is not disputed by the Complainant and it should be taken as true. Respondent did not know the contributing causes of his misconduct and therefore did not avoid these pitfalls.

The Complainant states on Page 3 of his brief:

"Respondent proclaimed his recovery from addiction to alcohol and cocaine. However, no expert witness testified in support of this position."

Complainant offered in evidence as the Bar's Exhibit 2, records from Golden Valley Health Center. Included in said documents was a discharge summary executed by Stephen Barton, M.D. This document was offered in evidence by the Bar for some purpose and the only logical purpose could be that the contents thereof were material to this case. On Page 3 of said discharge summary, it is stated:

"The diagnostic impression is that:

- 1. Adjustment disorder with mixed emotional features.
- 2. Psychosexual Disorder, NOS.
- 3. Alcohol and cocaine dependency.
- Narcisstic independent personality traits
   rule out mixed personality disorder."

Further, the testimony of the Respondent, his wife, all of his brothers, as well as the witnesses connected with the Florida Lawyers Assistance, Inc. and Alcoholics Anonymous certainly establish that Respondent was an alcoholic. The Referee's Findings of Fact in this regard is surely supported by the evidence.

On Page 9 of the Bar's brief, it is stated:

"The record is void of expert testimony which would establish a causal connection between Respondent's alcoholism and cocaine use and the criminal conduct."

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